
                                                                                                                                                                                                   
DEEPHAVEN CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

MONDAY, FEBRUARY 6, 2017 

MINUTES 

 

 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER:  Mayor Paul Skrede called the meeting to order at 7:00 

p.m. 

 

PRESENT: Mayor Paul Skrede, Councilmembers Darel Gustafson, Steve Erickson, Kent 

Carlson, and Tony Jewett 

 

STAFF: Police Chief Cory Johnson, Zoning Coordinator Dale Cooney, and City 

Administrator Dana Young 

 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

The Council recited the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

3. APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA 
 

Motion by Councilmember Gustafson to approve the Consent Agenda, consisting of the 

following items: 

 

A. Approve the January 3, 2017 Council Minutes 

B. Approve Verifieds 

C. Approve December 2016 Treasurer’s Report 

 

Seconded by Councilmember Erickson.  Motion carried 5-0. 

  

4. MATTERS FROM THE FLOOR 
 

Elaine Swanson (7021 Oliver Avenue South, Richfield) was present to express her disappoint 

regarding an estate sale she held on December 3-4, 2016 on East Valley Road.  She stated that 

she had three advertising signs removed along Minnetonka Blvd by the Deephaven Police 

Department and was informed that the signs were stored by the City Maintenance Shop.  She 

stated that when she stopped by to pick up the signs, they were missing.  She stated that the 

Police Officer didn’t know why they were missing and noted that the signs cost $45.00 each. 

 

She added that she had parking for the estate sale on both East Valley Road and on Minnetonka 

Blvd, where it appeared that there were no parking signs for a 500 foot section.  She stated that 

she was informed that several of her customers received parking tickets and was asked to ask the 

City for a refund of the ticket fee.  She stated that she felt her customers should have been 

informed by the police to move their cars rather than receive the tickets.  She stated that she was 

surprised and disappointed by the missing signs and the parking tickets.  

 



Mayor Skrede stated that he talked with the Police Chief about this incident after receiving a 

phone call from someone receiving a parking ticket.  He stated that the normal policy for 

someone working an estate sale in Deephaven is to check with the Police Department on parking 

and sign requirements before the event. 

 

Chief Johnson stated that there were a total of three parking tickets issued for this event.  He 

stated that there was only one officer scheduled to work that day and the officer had to help 

direct traffic due to the illegal parking along Minnetonka Blvd.  He stated that the officer didn’t 

have time to inform people to move their cars because he was too busy directing traffic. 

 

Further discussion was held on the lack of no parking signs along Minnetonka Blvd. 

 

Mayor Skrede stated that a 500 foot gap between no parking signs might indicate that there was 

parking available along Minnetonka Blvd.  However, the presence of a blind curve and the 

construction of a new home near the entrance to East Valley Road should have been a strong 

indication that parking along Minnetonka Blvd was not permitted.  He added that he is bothered 

by the missing signs.  He stated that the Council does not make a decision on this issue under 

Matters from the Floor and promised to get back to Elaine Swanson after he is able to review all 

the available information concerning this incident. 

  

5. PLANNING & ZONING REQUESTS 
 

A.        Conditional Use Permit Request of The Wabi Shop to Install Commercial Signage at   

            3620 County Road 101 - Applicant is requesting a Conditional Use Permit to install          

            a 66.6 square foot illuminated business identification sign that would be attached to  

            the structure. 

 

Zoning Coordinator Cooney summarized the staff report.  He stated that Kay Frandsen, owner of 

the building and The Wabi Sabi Shop at 3620 County Road 101, is requesting a Conditional Use 

Permit to install a 66.6 square foot illuminated business identification sign that would be 

attached to the structure.  He said that the business, located in the C-2 zoning district, is a 

permitted use within the zoning district. 

 

Cooney said that city code requires a Conditional Use Permit for the sign.  Cooney said that the 

proposal would illuminate the sign internally with an LED light. 

 

Cooney said that Section 1305.03 regulates business hours and limits the hours a business can 

sell goods and services to consumers to only between the hours of 6 AM and 9:30 PM.  He said 

that the section states that interior and exterior lighted signs permitted to businesses may operate 

during business hours only.  He said that the business hours for the shop are currently Monday – 

Friday 10 am to 7 pm; Saturday 10 am to 5 pm; and Sunday 12 – 4pm. 

 

Cooney said that Section 1115.09(a) states that the size of a sign may not exceed 15 percent of 

the wall area of the front façade of the structure in which it is located and in no case exceed 100 

square feet for all other types of signs.  He said that the façade of the applicant’s suite is 

approximately 1,950 square feet and that the proposed sign area of 66.6 square feet equals 3% of 



the front façade area.  Cooney said that in reviewing the property file, staff found that a similarly 

sized sign was approved for Counselor Realty in 1992, but that the sign was not permitted to be 

illuminated. 

 

Cooney said that staff was unable to find any documentation regarding a conditional permit for 

the monument sign.  He said that currently, the sign contains signage totaling 38 square feet with 

19 square feet on two sides.  He said that the sign is illuminated with downcast lighting in the 

monument eaves.  He said that the monument sign is compliant with existing regulations. 

 

Cooney said that he recommends approval of the conditional use request to install a 66.6 square foot 

illuminated business identification sign that will be attached to the structure.  He said that his 

recommendation was based on the following findings: there is a need to advertise the business and 

upon review of the application, it was determined there would no negative impacts on the 

development of the community, the character of the community or on the health, safety and general 

welfare of the occupants of surrounding lands.  The proposal would not impact traffic conditions or 

impact property values.  The recommendation is conditioned that the hours of illumination be as 

outlined in Section 1305.03 of the ordinance. Cooney concluded his staff report. 

 

Cooney said that the Planning Commission held a public hearing for the request at their January 

17
th

 meeting and recommended approval of the request based on the findings of staff. He said 

that the recommendation is conditioned that: 

(a) The hours of illumination limited to afternoon/evening hours.  

(b) The sign shall not remain illuminated later than 7:15 p.m. 

 

Councilmember Carlson asked the property owner to confirm the hours of operation. 

 

Kay Frandsen said that the Wabi Sabi shop is located at 3620 County Road 101 South and that the 

hours of operation are Monday through Friday, 10 a.m. to 7 p.m., Saturday from 10 a.m. to 5 p.m., 

and Sunday from noon to 4 p.m. 

 

Mayor Skrede noted that there were several Minnetonka residents that had concerns about the sign. 

Councilmember Jewett said that the residents were primarily concerned about the perceived 

brightness of the sign and that they raised concerns about the commercial signage in a predominantly 

residential area.  He said that the sign meets the code requirements and that the Planning 

Commission attempted to address the neighbor concerns by limiting the hours the sign could be 

illuminated. 

 

Mayor Skrede asked about the color of the sign.  Frandsen said that it was a soft green color, and not 

a bright yellow or white.  Councilmember Carlson noted that the sign was existing and is being 

relocated from the previous location of the business. 

 

Mayor Skrede asked about the other tenants of the building.  Frandsen said that Steiner Construction 

was the other tenant and that they were on a year-to-year lease. 

 

Councilmember Jewett asked if another business moved in, could they also get a sign.  Cooney said 

that they would have to go through the Conditional Use Permit process, but that they could request a 



sign. 

 

Councilmember Erickson said that he visited the street where the concerned neighbors lived on 

Comet Avenue in Minnetonka.  He said that it was very easy to see the ballpark, but that there was a 

lot of underbrush towards the Wabi Sabi building, even in the winter.  He said that he could not see 

the Holiday sign.  He said that the road is a highway and, unfortunately for those residents, there is a 

small commercial zone across from them.  He said that it is difficult to tell that there is a business in 

Frandsen’s commercial building when he drives down the road, and that he does not even look at the 

monument sign. 

 

Mayor Skrede said that the colors of the sign were effective and not offensive.  Councilmember 

Carlson said that the signage is consistent with other signage the city has approved in the past. 

 

Motion by Councilmember Gustafson to approve the request based on the findings and 

recommendation of the Planning Commission.  Motion was seconded by Councilmember Erickson. 

 

Councilmember Jewett asked about the limitations on the hours and asked if it should be simplified 

to “business hours” rather than specifying the particular hours.  Councilmember Gustafson said that 

he preferred the hours listed in the Planning Commission’s conditions.  Mayor Skrede agreed. 

 

Motion carried 5-0.  

 

B. Review 2040 Comprehensive Plan Update (Sections I and II) - Minnesota state law  

            requires cities, townships and counties in the seven-county metro area to prepare  

            comprehensive plan updates every 10 years. The City Council will discuss Sections I  

            and II of the 2040 Comprehensive Plan Update. 

 

Zoning Coordinator Cooney summarized the staff report.  Cooney said that every 10 years, 

Minnesota state law requires cities, townships, and counties in the seven-county metro area to 

prepare comprehensive plan updates.  He said that, ostensibly, the goal of the law is to create a 

regional approach to growth and development, particularly as it pertains to region-wide systems 

such as wastewater and transportation.  He said that cities must submit their comprehensive plan 

to the Metropolitan Council for review of the plan’s compatibility and conformity with the 

Council’s regional system plans. 

 

Cooney said that Deephaven’s local comprehensive plan is statutorily required to address several 

plan elements including Land Use, Transportation, Water Resources (Wastewater, Surface 

Water, Water Supply), Parks and Trails, Housing, and Implementation.  He noted that 

Deephaven is a developed community and is not expected to see a significant change in 

population or housing units over the term of this comprehensive plan update. Cooney said that 

region-wide systems such as wastewater or transportation will be, at most, minimally impacted 

by any changes within the City of Deephaven.  He said that, due to these conditions, no 

significant changes to the city’s comprehensive plan are proposed, and most areas of the plan are 

anticipated to be updated to meet statutory requirements. 

 



Cooney said that, while the city’s physical characteristics are expected to remain stable, the 

city’s goals and policies may have changed over time.  He said that he is not aware of any 

specific policy goals that are not addressed via the existing comprehensive plan, but now is the 

time to begin addressing those omissions if there are any.  

 

Cooney said that it is his goal to have Deephaven’s plan update substantially complete by the 

First Quarter of 2018.  He said that he could bring the document to the City Council in sections, 

or as a complete document. 

 

Mayor Skrede said that reviewing the document by sections would be preferable. 

 

Cooney said that the introduction was updated to reflect the new dates.  He said that the new data 

tables are from the census except for those required by the Metropolitan Council.  He said that he 

has left the city’s goals and policies unchanged but that he has highlighted those goals and 

policies that might not be reflected via the city’s implementation over the last 10 years and that 

he would like the City Council to discuss those items. 

 

Mayor Skrede said that he would like to look at this with a broader approach rather than getting 

bogged down in the details.  He asked if, apart from the highlighted areas, there were any other 

sections the City Council wished to discuss. 

 

Councilmember Jewett asked about the 1971 date of the approved wetland maps and wondered if 

that should be updated.  Cooney said that the city could update the maps if it chose to, and that 

there have likely been changes since the original maps were drawn. 

 

Administrator Young said that he felt the 1971 maps still had value, and that more precise info is 

provided by delineations from property owners. 

 

Councilmember Erickson said that he would only favor more restrictive language regarding 

wetlands. 

 

Mayor Skrede said that the city could update the map as needed in the future.  Young said that 

the watershed districts might have better information.  Councilmember Carlson said that the U.S. 

Fish and Wildlife service has data on wetlands. 

 

Councilmember Carlson asked about the policy for lakes and if the city has a stormwater 

management plan that is consistent with the watershed districts’ plans.  Young said that the city 

does have a stormwater management plan. 

 

Mayor Skrede asked about the large increase in employment projected by the Metropolitan 

Council.  Cooney said that they had met with the representative last fall and pointed this out. 

Mayor Skrede said that he would like to see a more realistic number for employment.  Young 

said that he believes that the city would have to somehow come up with a more accurate number. 

 

Councilmember Carlson asked about the increase in household numbers.  Mayor Skrede said that 

he is seeing more families in the city and that he thought the household size and age data was not 



reflective of the city.  Young said that, since this is 2010 data, it does not include Deephaven 

Woods Senior Living. 

 

Mayor Skrede began asking about the text that Cooney had highlighted for review.  He asked 

about the section related to slopes policy that said “Development control standards will require 

information regarding soil loss in tons/acre/year both during and after construction.”  The City 

Council asked that this be deleted. 

 

Regarding woodlands policies, Mayor Skrede said that he would like to remove the language that 

states that replanting of trees will be a policy.  He said that he would like to remove the policy 

that states “Subdivision regulations shall require identification of existing trees, trees to be 

removed, and proposed plantings.”  The City Council agreed. 

 

Mayor Skrede pointed the housing policy that states “The City may consider alternatives 

including but not limited to housing maintenance codes, rental unit inspection, added 

maintenance enforcement and/or point of sale inspection.”  He said that this is something that the 

city may consider in the future and that he would prefer to keep the language.  The City Council 

agreed. 

 

Mayor Skrede asked about the commercial housing policy that states “Require occupancy 

permits for new commercial buildings (or turnover of existing commercial tenants), to encourage 

upgrading of buildings, parking areas, and grounds.”  Cooney said that this is not something that 

the city currently does.  Councilmember Erickson said that he was not in favor of requiring 

occupancy permits for commercial tenant turnover.  The City Council agreed to remove the 

language. 

 

Mayor Skrede asked about the commercial housing policy regarding TIF districts and other 

incentives.  He said that he would like to remove this language since he does not want to be 

required to have this kind of incentive.  Young said that the city has used TIF districts in the past 

and that it is a useful tool to have.  Young said that nothing about leaving the language in would 

require that the city create a TIF district for a future proposal, but that leaving the language in 

would give the city that option if it wished.  The City Council agreed to leave the language in. 

 

Regarding park policy that encourages cooperation between the city and the school district, 

Mayor Skrede said that there is cooperation and shared resources on several items and that the 

language should be left in.  The City Council agreed. 

 

Mayor Skrede asked about the solar policy that would consider reduced setbacks for solar 

equipment.  He said that he was not in favor of this and would prefer that this be removed.  The 

City Council agreed to remove the language. 

 

C. Adopt Resolution No. 09-17, Minor Lot Reconfiguration at 4285 / 4282 Circle Drive. 

 

Mayor Skrede introduced the agenda item.  He said that the property owners wanted to sell a 

small a portion their property to their neighbor where a driveway encroaches. 

 



Motion by Councilmember Gustafson to approve the lot reconfiguration as presented. Motion 

was seconded by Councilmember Erickson.  Motion carried 5-0. 

 

6. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

A. Approve Special Event Permit for Tour de Tonka & Firecracker Run (Tim Litfin) 
 

Tim Litfin, Director of Minnetonka Community Education, was present to request a Special 

Event Permit to hold the 2017 Tour de Tonka on August 5
th

 and to hold the 2017 Firecracker 

Run on July 4
th

 in a portion of the City of Deephaven. 

 

Tim Litfin stated that he met with Mayor Skrede, Administrator Young and Police Chief in 

December to discuss the 2017 Tour de Tonka.  He stated that he would like to start two of the 

smaller rides from Deephaven with a start time of 7:30 a.m.  He stated that this start time would 

coincide with the start time for the riders leaving Minnetonka High School. 

 

Mayor Skrede noted that the use of cones on the center line of the street last year really helped 

with the movement of traffic.  He noted that the music and announcements are scheduled to 

begin at 7:15 a.m. and wanted to know an end time for these activities. 

 

Tim Litfin stated that the music will be over around 8:30 a.m. when the last riders pass through. 

 

Councilmember Jewett noted that a time correction was needed on the rider map. 

 

Motion by Councilmember Erickson to approve a Special Event Permit for Minnetonka 

Community Education to conduct the Tour de Tonka in Deephaven on Saturday, August 5, 2017.  

Seconded by Councilmember Gustafson.  Motion carried 5-0. 

 

Tim Litfin stated that the Firecracker Run will be held on July 4
th

 and will have the exact route as 

in prior years.  He stated that only a portion of the 10K is held in Deephaven, which includes 

approximately 700-800 riders.  He added that the riders are pretty spread out by the time they hit 

Deephaven. 

 

Mayor Skrede asked if the communication with the South Lake Police Department is current 

enough to make sure that we are not abandoning a group of runners. 

 

Tim Litfin stated that the communication between the Deephaven Police Department and South 

Lake Police Department in the coordination of the event if very good. 

 

Councilmember Gustafson asked if there was a sweep vehicle that follows the last runner. 

 

Tim Litfin stated that there was and the last runner goes through around 8:45 a.m. to 9:00 a.m. 

 

Motion by Councilmember Erickson to approve a Special Event Permit for Minnetonka 

Community Education and the Excelsior-South Lake Chamber of Commerce to conduct the 



Firecracker Run in Deephaven on Tuesday, July 4, 2017.  Seconded by Councilmember 

Gustafson.  Motion carried 5-0. 

 

B. Adopt Ordinance No. 09-27, Establishing Ten Year Term Limits on Buoys 

 

Administrator Young stated that on August 15, 2016, the City Council adopted a transition plan 

for allowing powerboats on buoy spaces that included the stipulation that “All new buoy 

mooring leases starting with the 2017 Boating Season will be limited to a ten-year lease.” 

 

He stated that Ordinance No. 09-27 addresses this stipulation of the transition plan by limiting all 

new buoy mooring leases to ten years starting with the 2017 Boating Season. 

 

Councilmember Jewett asked if those applying for buoys in 2017 were aware of the ten year 

limit. 

 

Administrator Young stated that they have been made aware of this requirement. 

 

Motion by Councilmember Erickson to adopt Ordinance No. 09-27, An Ordinance Amending 

Section 900.06 of the Watercraft Space Ordinance by Establishing Ten Year Term Limits for 

Buoy Mooring Spaces.  Seconded by Councilmember Gustafson.  Motion carried 5-0. 

 

C. Adopt Resolution No. 10-17, Approving the Hennepin County Grant for Thorpe  

Park Improvements  

 

Administrator Young stated that on December 20
th

, City Staff and the City Council were notified 

that Councilmember Jewett’s grant application to the Hennepin County Youth Sports Grant 

Program for the renovation of Thorpe Park has been partially funded.  The City of Deephaven 

requested a matching grant in the amount of $250,000 and the City was awarded with a $143,000 

matching grant.   

 

He stated that the Council had an extensive discussion on the grant award at their January 3, 

2017 meeting but further discussion was postponed pending the receipt of the Grant Agreement 

from Hennepin County. 

 

He stated that adoption of Resolution No. 10-17 is required in order to accept the Grant 

Agreement and authorize the City Clerk to sign the agreement.  

 

Mayor Skrede noted that Councilmember Jewett will be working on the hockey rink 

improvements and Councilmember Carlson and the Park Committee will be focusing on the 

warming house restroom improvements. 

 

Motion by Councilmember Gustafson to adopt Resolution No. 10-17, a Resolution Authorizing 

Entering into an Agreement with Hennepin County for Improvements at Thorpe Park.  Seconded 

by Councilmember Erickson.  Motion carried 5-0. 
 

 

 



D. Authorize Payment to Schneider Excavating for Lake Louise Storm Water Project  

 

Administrator Young stated that at a Special Council held on November 14, 2016, the 

Deephaven City Council approved the bid submitted by Schneider Excavating & Grading Inc. in 

the amount of $12,800.00 to install approximately 150’ of larger storm water pipe and to install 

new 27” manholes to improve the drainage from Lake Louise into Lake Minnetonka.  He stated 

that the project was satisfactorily completed on January 20, 2017 and staff is recommending final 

payment to Schneider Excavating & Grading Inc. in the amount of $13,862.00.   

 

He stated that the additional cost of $1,062.00 above the bid price is for increasing the size of the 

manholes from 27” to 48” ($304.00) and for adding a pond outlet grate ($758.00) at the request 

of our Public Works Foreman.   

 

Motion by Councilmember Jewett to authorize payment to Schneider Excavating & Grading Inc. 

in the amount of $13,862.00 for the 2017 Lake Louise Storm Sewer Project.  Seconded by 

Councilmember Gustafson.  Motion carried 5-0. 
 

E. Other  
 

There was no other Unfinished Business this evening. 

 

7. NEW BUSINESS 

 

A. Approve Consumption & Display Permit for Minnetonka Yacht Club 

 

Administrator Young stated that the Minnetonka Yacht Club has again requested an Annual 

Consumption and Display (“Set-Up”) Permit from the City of Deephaven to allow the Yacht 

Club to let members mix and consume liquor they bring to the premises.  The Yacht Club sells 

beverages to their members for mixing with liquor.   

 

He stated that Minnesota State Statutes requires the Yacht Club to obtain approval from the City 

of Deephaven as part of its application to the Minnesota Department of Public Safety for a 2017 

Set-Up Permit.  The Minnesota Department of Public Safety actually issues the permit to the 

Yacht Club. 

 

The Consumption and Display Permit Fee is $50.00 per year and the City requires the Yacht 

Club to provide certificates of liquor liability. 

 

Motion by Councilmember Jewett to approve a 2017 Consumption and Display Permit for the 

Minnetonka Yacht Club.  Seconded by Councilmember Carlson.  Motion carried 5-0. 

 

B.  Other 

 

There was no other New Business this evening. 

 

 

 



8. DEPARTMENT REPORTS 

 

A. Police Department 
 

Police Chief Johnson presented the January 2017 Police Report for Council review.  He added 

that the POST Board conducts an audit of each police department every five years to ensure 

compliance with POST standards and the Deephaven Police Department successfully completed 

the POST Board audit last month. 

 

B. Excelsior Fire District 
 

Fire Board Liaison Steve Erickson provided a comprehensive summary of the activities and 

notable events that occurred with the Excelsior Fire District in 2016. 
         
C. Public Works 
 

Administrator Young provided an update on recent and upcoming public work activities. 

 

D. Administration 
 

Administrator Young provided a brief summary on the following items: 

 

 2016 Year End Financial Summary   

 2016 Building Permit Summary 

 Deer Management Update 

 Xcel LED Street Lighting Project 

 

9. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Motion to adjourn by Councilmember Erickson, seconded by Councilmember Gustafson. 

Motion carried 5-0.  The meeting adjourned at 9:06 p.m. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Dana H. Young 

City Administrator 


